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RESUME

L’auteur étudie les attributions de deux importantes
villas de Kingston, 'Die Folly (commencée en 1861 et
terminée vers 1890) et Edgewater (commencée en
1858). On ne dispose pas de documentation sur les
auteurs de ces maisons, attribuées toutes les deux a John
Power (1816-1882). L’auteur présente des éléments de
comparaison stylistique lui permettant d’affirmer que
seulement The Folly fut congue par Power, tandis
qu’Edgewater serait I'oeuvre de William Coverdale

This paper examines two stone villas, The Folly
(329 Division Street; Fig. 89) and Edgewater (1-3
Emily Street; Fig. 90) in Kingston, Ontario, in
order to détermine who built them.! In recent
years, both h&ve been attributed to John Power
(1816-82).1 However, on viewing the disparity in
the appearartce of these two buildings, an observer
might well feel that there were two architects
involved —an impression this article will confirm.

Power was born near Exeter, South Devonshire,
and trained by his father, Joseph Power, a master
builder and architect. In 1846, at the age of 30,
John Power sailed to Canada with some members
of the Horsey family, who had many connections

I This paper was presented in February 1987 at a confér-
ence, Recent Research in Canadian Architecture, held at
the University of Toronto and York University.

The Folly was attributed to John Power in my unpublished
MA thesis (Queen’s University, 1984), “Aspects of Domes-
tic Architecture in South-Eastern Ontario: Siting, Interiors
and Selected Furnishings of Frontenac, Lennox &
Addington Counties, 1820-1850,” 69 n. 18, and | elabo-
rated on the argument in my unpublished MI’hil research
paper (University of Toronto, 1986), “Selected Architec-
tural Drawingsand BuildingsofJohn and Joseph Powerof
Kingston, Ontario, 1850-1900,” 55-56. Edgewater is said to
have been built by Power in City of Kingston, Buildings of
Architectural and Historié Significance (Kingston, 1980), v,
50-52. The authors offer no historical évidence or stylistic
analysis tojustify this daim.

N

(1801-1865). L'auteur voit en effet dans ces deux mai-
sons un certain nombre de caractéristiques qui se
retrouvent dans des oeuvres documentées de Power et
Coverdale. Le choix de matériaux locaux et I'utilisation
du style classique font de ces villas de véritables symboles
du statut social de leurs propriétaires dans la ville loya-
liste de Kingston, qui a failli rester en 1844 la capitale du
Canada Lui.

with the building trade. Thcy settlcd in Kingston,
where other immigrants from Devonshire had
been living since the 1830s, and Power began his
career as a contractor, perhaps bidding on proj-
ects designed by such résident architects as
Edward Horsey (1806-69) and William Coverdale
(1801-65). In 1850 he announced his indepen-
dence as an architect and building surveyor and
four years later was able to cite prestigious référ-
encés among the local establishment.3

Power did not pick an auspicious moment to
move to Kingston. The city was still trying to
recover from the disappointment of being aban-
doned as the capital of the united Province of Can-
ada. The city’s ambitions were at their peak from
1841 to 1844, although rumours about the capital
site had been in circulation since the late 1830s.
The spéculation resulted in a burst of building
activity, since government buildings and housing
were needed for the sudden influx of civil ser-
vants. Architects such as George Browne (1811-
85) were attracted to the city and temporarily
swelled the ranks of local architects. Browne
won the compétition for the Kingston City Hall, a

3For the biography and career of John Power, see
McKendry, “Selected Architectural Drawings,” especially
10-16.
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classical structure of national architectural signifi-
cance. Many important structures, built from the
local grey limestone, left natural or rough-cut,
were erected or altered around this time, mainly in
the classical style—among them, the front of St.
George’s Cathédral (rebuilt), the main entrance to
the Provincial Penitentiary, Roselawn, Rockwood,
St. Andrew’s Manse, and Bellevue House. There-
fore, in spite of financial concerns over the city’s
décliné in importance after losing its bid to remain
the capital, Power would have observed in 1846 a
number of appealing and well-built structures,
making Kingston reminiscent of, and yet subtly
distinct from, the small cities of his homeland.

By the time The Folly was being contemplated
around 1860, Power had désignée! many buildings
in Gothic Revival and classical styles. Among these
are Mclntosh Castle, an attractive stone villa, built
in 1852 in a picturesque médiéval style; the Hbtel
Frontenac (originally Irons Hétel), a four-storey,
brick and stone structure built in 1852-53, with a
fiat arcade spanning the top three storeys; and the
winning entry in the 1858 compétition for the new
Medical Hall of Queen’s University.

The city tax assessment rolls can be used to
establish the building date and patron of The
Folly. In the report of 1859, the Reverend George
Stuart was assessed £90 for an acre of land at
Division, York, and Main Streets. Two years later
the assessment was increased to £300, with the
notation that the house thereon was not finished.
Stuart, who died in 1862, was an important local
figure as a United Empire Loyalist, member of the
Farnily Compact and minister of St. George’s
Cathédral. The “late Dean Stuart’s new mansion”
was referred to in an 1864 advertisement for the
sale of neighbouring building lots that com-
manded a fine view of Cataraqui Bay, the Citadel,
and other points of interest.4 This is significant
because the area today is so heavily built up with a
mixture of commercial, residential, and industrial
structures that it is hard to imagine why Stuart,
who in 1859 was 83 and owned several properties,
was attracted to this site. But the house, apparently
not held to be désirable, was sold for as little as
$ 100 in 1876, and a decade later it was described as
still being unfinished, even though Stuart had
nearly completed it before his death.5

Attribution of The Folly toJohn Power is based
on comparison with a number of stone buildings,

4 Kingston Daily News, 23 October 1864.

5 On 4 September 1876, Thomas Parkc sold “Archdeacon
Stuart’s house” for $100 to William Allen (Instrument
M1350, Frontenac County Registry Office). In the spécial
December issue of 1886, the Kingston British Whig Supplé-
ment described “the Folly,” built by Archdeacon Stuart, as
being unfinished (5).
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documented as désignée! by him between the
mid-1850s and the mid- 1860s. The Folly’s main
facade, now unfortunately obscured under a later
ungainly porch, resembles that of 5 Emily Street
(Fig. 91), built by Power in 1854.6 Both houses
have classical, symmetrical street fagcades with
central bays projecting forward and surmounted
by pediments ornamented by pronounced curved
brackets. On the hipped roofs there are symmetri-
cally positioned, prominent chimneys placed
parallel to the front walls. The Folly continues the
Palladian tradition of a formai entrance wall in
combination with a less formai garden fagade on
the opposite side of the house—in this case a two-
storey curved bow projecting into the garden in
the direction of Lake Ontario (Fig. 92). As a resuit
of the peculiarities of the site of 5 Emily Street, its
curved, bowed two-storey wall is at right angles to
the street facade but does stretch towards the lake.
In both houses the cornices of the main blocks are
moulded outward to become a continuation of the
cornices of the bows.

The pediment of The Folly is pierced by a
round opening decorated by a plain stone border
interrupted by four regularly placed keystones.
This device is also found on the Lennox and
Addington County Court House (Fig. 93),
désignée! by Power in 1863 in Napanee.l Both
buildings use a pair of brackets under the sills of
the windows.

The rnost convincing architectural feature sup-
porting an attribution to Power is the incorpora-
tion on both The Folly and Parkview House
(31 King Street West, built in 1854 by Power; Fig.
94) of paired chimney stacks of smoothly worked
stone, bound at the top by a course of stone deco-
rated by roundels in relief.8 In Parkview House,
roundels are also found on the window lintels and
on the fascia boards under the cornice.

The city tax assessments provide us with the
patronage and building date of Edgewater, a dou-
ble stone house, splendidly situated on the shores
of Lake Ontario in what was then the suburbs of
Kingston. In 1858, Clark Hamilton and his
brother-in-law John Paton were assessed £400 and
£300 respectively for their “two unfinished
houses.” Fortunately, preliminary élévations and
floor plans bave survived, although they are not
identified in any manner (Fig. 95).9 They were

6 Daily British Whig (Kingston), 21 April 1855.

7 Minutes of Provisional Council, Lennox and Addington
County, 10 September 1863.

8 Daily British Whig (Kingston), 2! April 1855. The source of
the chimney design may be a detail from plate xviii ofS. H.
Brooks, Designs for Cottage and Villa Architecture (London,
18309).

9 Newlands Collection, Queen’s University Archives, King-
ston, #241 and #256.
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drawn in pencil on paper that is watermarked
1855. The neutral character of the draftsmanship
présents difficulties in attribution, especially in
light of the paucity of architectural drawings of
that period in Kingston (for example, many later
Power drawings exist, but only one, a floor plan
from the chamber storey ofa house, survives from
before the mid-1860s).1011

The drawings for Edgewater contain a number
of features that do not appear in the finished
building, but do provide assistance in determining
its author who, | believe, was William Coverdale
(1801-65).11 Coverdale emigrated around 1810
from York to a farming area along the Richelieu
River south of Montreal. He moved to Kingston in
the early 1830s, probably attracted by the activity
in the building trade, with the construction of Fort
Henry and the Provincial Penitentiary. The latter
was designed in 1832 by two Americans, William
Powers and John Mills, in a radial plan influenced
by reform ideas in penitentiary designs.l2 One of
the four arms of the plan was under construction
in 1834 when Coverdale was hired as master
builder and architect to replace Mills. Coverdale
immediately made drawings to improve the aes-
thetic aspects of the original scheme and, in 1840,
contributed the plan for the outer walls and
gateways. A victim of political intrigue, he ré-
signée! under duress in 1846. He designed and
supervised many houses and commercial build-
ings in brick or stone or a combination during the
1840s, and continued to do so in the 1850s and in
the first half of the 1860s, while he was city archi-
tect. John Power, also skilled in working with these
materials, was his main competitor during this
time, and outlived him by 17 years.

Coverdale’s final work was the Lunatic Asylum
(Fig. 96), now known as Penrose on the grounds of
the Kingston Psychiatrie Hospital and designed in
1857.13 It displays a number of features found in
the drawings for Edgewater: for example, the

10 The majority of drawings by the Power firm are in the
collection of the National Archives of Canada.

11 Coverdale’s career is discussed in Mary Fraser, “William
Coverdale, Kingston Architect 1801 ?-1865,” Historié King-
ston, xxvi (1978), 71-80.1 am in the processofanalyzing his
work, including the Provincial Penitentiary, in my doctoral
dissertation for the University of Toronto.

12 Recorded in the Penitentiary documents in the Kingston
Penitentiary Muséum and in thejournals of the Legislative
Assembly of Upper Canada and the Province of Canada,
1832 to 1849.

13 Daily British Whig (Kingston), 12 December 1857. The
foundations for the asylum were being dug in 1859 and,
although partly occupied by patients, the structure was not
yet finished when Coverdale died in 1865. His son, William
Coverdale, Jr. (who had been acting as his clerk of the
works), in partnership with John Power, finished the Proj-
ect five years later.

main doorway has piers banded by emphasized
blocks that are not found this early elsewhere in
Kingston. The same type of round-arched win-
dow, the surround of which is heavily moulded
with an accentuated keystone, is found on the
asylum and in the drawings. In addition, there is
the same use of rustication to distinguish key-
stones, quoins, and sills. This textured stonework
climaxes on the asylum in the distinctive chimneys,
and in the drawings for Edgewater as parapets
over the doorway porticoes.

These parapets are in the form of stelai in the
drawings, but were either not executed or have
been replaced by the présent iron railing. A
parapet in the form of a rectangular panel does
appear on the porch of Elmhurst (26 Centre
Street; Fig. 97), built in 1852 by Coverdale.l4
There, the porch closely resembles the ones built
at Edgewater—note the use of the Tuscan order,
rounded arch, and piers composed of channelled
blocks. One of EImhurst’s south upper Windows
has a distinctive glazing pattern of off-centre glaz-
ing bars, drawn as an alternative suggestion on the
lower right Windows of Edgewater’s main fagade.

I have elsewhere attributed a coloured présen-
tation drawing of the Medical Hall for Queen’s
University to Coverdale, who lost this 1858 com-
pétition toJohn Power.15 In the compétition draw-
ing, the chimney stacks are the same as those pro-
posed for Edgewater. We also know that at this
time Coverdale was interested in the incorpora-
tion of one-storey angled bay Windows (90 John-
son Street, Baiden House, 165-167 King Street
West, the rectory for St. John’s Church), which
were proposed and accepted for Edgewater.

The Folly and Edgewater présent problems
familial' to architectural historians. Despite the
lack of documentation, publications may boldly
state that certain buildings were built according to
the designs of certain architects. One is then left in
the position of being a revisionist—attacking the
position taken by the author of the publication
without knowing the reasons for his or her conclu-
sions. But we ail know how quickly published
assumptions become established facts. The grav-
est danger is that we build an image of the charac-
teristics of the style of an architect on unreliable
foundations and go on to make further attri-
butions. Documentation, in the form of architec-
tural drawings, account books, building contracts,
and tenders, is the key to secure knowledge of an
architect’s oeuvre, but without knowledge of how
to date materials and construction techniques, it

14 Recorded in the account books of Coverdale in the posses-
sion of Mary Fraser, Kingston.
15 McKendry, “Selectcd Architectural Drawings,” 53.
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can be a trap. There have been instances when a
document cites the designer and date ofa building
that was replaced because of fire or démolition.
The later structure on the site is then credited with
the original building date and designer. However,
when the documentation of a building tallies with
the date of construction, we can then use that
structure, through the technique of comparison,
to establish the attributions of undocumented
buildings.

By identifying the authors of Edgewater and
The Folly, we can now paint a picture of the equal
success of the two key architects of the late 1850s
and early 1860s in Kingston. Both Coverdale and
Power worked for influential clients—Coverdale
for the Hamilton family, successful bankers, and
Power for George Stuart, the venerable arch-
deacon of the local Church of England. Both men
were capable designers of suburban villas, which
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fully exploited the local limestone, and both
understood how to produce attractive classical
designs, appropriate to their sites. Since few draw-
ings by Coverdale exist, the identification of his
sketch of Edgewater is an important document in
understanding how he considered alternative
ideas in the same drawing and matured the
scheme in the finished house. As built, both rési-
dences exude the confidence and status of the
upper middle classes—Loyalist families who
weathered the various political and personal
crises, class rebellions, and économie dépréssions
of the nineteenth century. Continuity with the
history of Kingston, settled in 1784 by United
Empire Loyalists who included the older généra-
tions of Stuarts and Hamiltons, was maintained
through the skilful manipulation of local material
and the éléments of classicism, so strongly
entrenched in this région.

1 Baiden Street
Kingston, Ontario K7M 2J7
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Figure 90. William Coverdale, Edgewaler, 1858, 1-3

Emilv Street, Kingston (Photo: Author).
Figure 89. John Power, north facade of Flic Folly,

1860-62, 329 Division Street, Kingston (Photo:
Author).

Figure 91. John Power. 5 Emilv Street. 185-4, King- Figure 92. John Power, south facade of 'Fhe Folly,
ston (Photo: Author). 1860-62, 329 Division Street. Kingston (Photo: Author).
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Figure 93. John Power. Lennox and Addington Figure 94. John Power, west side-view of Parkview
County Court House, 1863, Xapanec (Photo: Author). House, 1854, 31 King Street West, Kingston (Photo:
Author).

Figure 96. W.illiam Coverdale, centre pavilion of the Figure 97. William Coverdale, F.Imhurst, 1852,
Lunatic Asylum, begun 1859, King Street West. King- 26 Centre Street. Kingston (Photo: Author).
ston (Photo: Author).
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Figi re 95. William Coverdale. tinidentified drawings for Edgewater: élévation of the main

facade, watermarked 1855. Kingston. Qneen's Lniversitv Archives, #256 (Photo: Author).

Figi re 98.
Matisse Gallerv, New York).

l.eonora Carrington. Sel/Portrait. 1937 (Photo: Courtesy of Pierre
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